1999

Utah v. Stephen E. Russell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction of this matter is pursuant to U.C.A. §78-2a-3, which states in pertinent part:

(2) The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction over:

(e) appeals from a court of record in criminal cases, except those involving a conviction of a first degree or capital felony.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the trial judge err in denying Appellant's motion to dismiss for lack of speedy trial? This is a mixed question of law and fact. The standard of review is clear error as to the facts and correctness as to the law, and the appellate court may grant considerable deference to the trial courts application of the law to the facts. Utah Department of Human Services ex rel. Parker v. Irizarry, 945 P.2d 676 (Utah 1997).

CONTROLLING STATUTES

Utah Code (1953, as amended), Sections 76-2-401(1):

Conduct which is justified is a defense to prosecution for any offense based on the conduct. The defense of justification may be claimed:

(1) When the actor's conduct is in defense of persons or property under the circumstances described in Sections 76-2-402 through 76-2-406 of this part;

Utah Code (1953, as amended), Sections 76-2-402(1)(pertinent part):

A person is justified in threatening or using force against another when and to the extent that he or she reasonably believes that force is necessary to defend himself or a third person against such other's imminent use of unlawful force.

Amendment VI, United States Constitution (pertinent part):

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed . . .

Article I, Section 12, Utah Constitution (pertinent part):

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right . . . to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district in which the offense is alleged to have been committed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about October 6, 1997, Appellant Steve Russell was involved in an incident in which a Mr. Mavadatt and Mr. Russell both called the Salt Lake County Sheriff's department alleging an assault. Although two officers came to the scene, no citations were issued at that time. No information was filed until January 13, 1998. Because Mr. Russell did not know until three months after the fact that he was even going to be charged, the opportunity to locate witnesses critical to his defense was completely lost. Numerous delays then followed, none of which were attributable to Mr. Russell, and all of which were requested or instigated by the State. Trial was not held until June 17, 1999, over 20 months after the alleged incident. By that time Mr. Russell could not locate any defense witnesses. A pre-trial motion to dismiss for lack of speedy trial was timely made prior to trial, and was renewed at trial. Mr. Russell was acquitted by a jury of Assault with Injury, a Class A Misdemeanor, but convicted of simple Assault, a Class B Misdemeanor. Sentencing was entered on August 26, 1999 at which time the motion to dismiss for lack of speedy trial was renewed. The motion was denied all three times that it was made.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Over 3 months elapsed between the alleged incident and the filing of an information, and over 20 months elapsed between the time of the alleged incident and trial in the matter. As a result of this delay, Appellant was denied the ability to locate crucial defense witnesses and was thus prejudiced in his ability to defend himself at trial. Appellant was thus denied a speedy trial in violation of his rights under the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Utah

Constitution.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF SPEEDY TRIAL

The right to a speedy and public trial is guaranteed under the VIth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12, of the Utah Constitution. In construing Article I, Section 12, of the Utah Constitution, the same analysis is applied as is used in applying the federal Constitution. State v. Velasquez, 641 P.2d 115, 116 (Utah 1982). In determining whether the Appellant's right to a speedy trial has been violated, the court must consider four factors. Those factors are (1) Length of the delay; (2) Reason for the delay; (3) Whether the Appellant effectively asserted the right to a speedy trial; and (4) Whether the Appellant was prejudiced by the delay. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972), State v. Woodland, 945 P.2d 665, 669 (Utah 1997).

A. Length of Delay

First is the length of the delay. In the instant case, the State failed to bring Mr. Russell to trial for over 20 months. In Barker the United States Supreme Court indicated that the length of delay that can be tolerated must be proportional to the complexity of the case. 407 U.S. at 530-31. Simple assault, a class B misdemeanor, is not a complex matter. The State's discovery was completed early in the process, and bears this out. Nevertheless, the State waited three months before even filing an information, three months in which Mr. Russell could have located the bystanders who witnessed the original incident. "The length of the delay is the triggering mechanism" for the Court to determine if the Appellant's right to a speedy trial has been violated. 407 U.S. at 531. A 20-month delay from

the time of the alleged incident until trial certainly creates a presumption of prejudice.

B. Reason for Delay

There are no facts in the record as to why there was a 3-month delay from the date of the incident until the first information was filed. Nor is there any indication why arraignment on the original information was not held until May 1, 1998.

At the first scheduled trial setting in Justice Court, the State's witnesses failed to appear. The Court ordered another pretrial conference and also ordered the State to have all their witnesses present. At the second pretrial conference, the victim failed to appear as well as Dr. Vogel. The State again requested a continuance for a pretrial conference. On September 23, 1998, almost one year from the alleged incident, the State's witnesses again failed to appear and the State, without stating a reason, moved for dismissal without prejudice to file in the District Court as a Class A charge of Assault with Injury.

When witnesses have legitimate reasons that make them unavailable for trial, delay on the part of the State can be excused in some cases. State v. Hoyt, 806 P.2d 204, 208 (Ut.App. 1991). In this case, no such excuse was offered. The witnesses simply failed to appear, repeatedly.

The State cannot allege in this case that Mr. Russell caused any of the delays. Indeed, the major failure in most speedy trial appeals is when the delay is caused by the defendant. State v. Hoyt, 806 P.2d 204, 208 (Ut.App. 1991), State v. Knill, 656 P.2d 1026, 1029 (Utah 1982), State v. Snyder, 932 P.2d 120, 130 (Ut.App. 1997). Clearly, that is not the case here. The State re-filed the information within three weeks of the Justice Court's order of dismissal, but never summoned Mr. Russell by either mail or service. The State has Mr. Russell's address and phone number. The State exercised no diligence whatsoever on this case, and Mr. Russell only learned that charges had been

re-filed when he made inquiry in April, 1999. Mr. Russell appeared at every hearing prepared for trial as best he could under the circumstances. The fact that all delays in this matter were caused by the State weighs heavily against the State. Barker, 407 U.S. at 531.

C. Assertion of Right

The record is clear that Mr. Russell amply asserted his right to a speedy trial throughout the proceedings, and the matter was not only heard at a hearing prior to trial but was again renewed at the commencement of trial. Mr. Russell has clearly met his obligation in asserting his rights and preserving the issue for appeal. Barker, 407 U.S. at 525, State v. Hoyt, 806 P.2d 204, 208 (Ut.App.

1991). *It is not actually necessary to show actual prejudice, as once a speedy trial inquiry is triggered, prejudice is presumed. Doggett v. U.S. 505 U.S. 647, 112 S.Ct. 2686, 120 L.Ed 2d 520 (1992). Nevertheless . . .*

D. Prejudice from Delay

“Prejudice . . . should be assessed in the light of the interests of defendants which the speedy trial right was designed to protect. This Court has identified three such interests: (i) to prevent oppressive pretrial incarceration; (ii) to minimize anxiety and concern of the accused; and (iii) to limit the possibility that the defense will be impaired. Of these, the most serious is the last . . .”

State v. Banner, 717 P.2d 1325 (Utah 1986)(citing Barker, 407 U.S. at 532, 97 S.Ct. at 2193)


It is the last factor that weighs in heavily in Mr. Russell’s case. Pursuant to U.C.A. §76-2-401(1) and 402(1), a party may be justified in the use of force if necessary to defend himself or another from physical force. In Mr. Russell’s case, no witnesses at trial other than Mr. Russell himself could testify that Mr. Mavadatt first used force against Mr. Russell. Although numerous persons at a neighboring business witnessed Mr. Mavadatt’s assault on Mr. Russell and could have testified that Mr. Russell acted in self-defense, by the time the matter came to trial, indeed, effectively by the time that Mr. Russell received the original information, there was no way that Mr. Russell could locate any of those witnesses. As a result, he could not effectively present the defense of justification.

In addition, Deputy Spencer, who interviewed the Appellant at the scene, took no notes nor did he file a police report. At an earlier pretrial conference, Spencer admitted that didn't remember the initial encounter with the Mr. Russell over the incident. Finally, Mr. Russell was unable to obtain the dispatch tapes which would have supported his defense of justification, as the State had not retained them. Mr. Russell was thus clearly and directly prejudiced by the delay, through no fault of his own. In addition to speedy trial concerns, such a pre-indictment delay violates a defendant's right to due process if such delay results in actual prejudice. State v. Byrns, 911 P.2d 981, 985, 986 (Ut.App. 1995). Clearly there has been such actual prejudice in this case.

CONCLUSION

The very essence of the right to a speedy trial is to prevent a defendant from being prejudiced in his ability to defend himself at trial. "The speedy trial right reserved under the Utah Constitution is no greater or lesser than its federal counterpart." State v. Banner, 717 P.2d 1325, 1328 n.3 (Utah 1986). In this case, the State was given several bites at the apple by being granted repeated continuances when its witnesses failed to show up for trial. At the same time, as a result of the long delay between the alleged incident and trial, Appellant was unable to locate witnesses who would have been critical to his defense of justification, as set forth under Utah law. The Appellant has met the criteria set forth under Barker v. Wingo, and his conviction should therefore be overturned.