1999

# Utah v. Stephen E. Russell : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over all criminal convictions that do not involve a first degree felony or a capital offense pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(e). Because the contested convictions are misdemeanor violations, the Utah Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Pursuant to Utah R. App. P. Rule 24(1) the State is satisfied with the Appellant's statement of issues.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

The following constitutional provisions, statutes and rules pertain and appear in full text in the addendum:

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant has claimed that his right to a speedy trial has been violated. As such, the pertinent facts those facts preceding the trial. Because the Appellant has failed to provide this Court with an appendix or any transcript of the proceedings below. The State relies for its facts upon the Third District Court docket, attached hereto as Exhibit A.

On October 13, 1998, the State filed an information in the Murray District Court alleging that the Appellant had committed a Battery with Substantial Bodily Injury, a Class A Misdemeanor. (Exhibit A, p. 2, hereafter "Exh. A"). On January 13, 1999, the State filed an amended information and requested that a warrant be issued. (Exh. A, p. 2). The warrant was issued after the trial court found that the Appellant would not appear upon a summons. (Exh. A, p. 2). On May 5, 1999, the warrant was recalled when the Appellant appeared for arraignment. (Exh. A, p. 2). At arraignment, the Appellant entered a plea of not guilty and a pretrial conference was scheduled for May 18, 1999. (Exh. A, p. 2). On May 14, 1999 the Appellant filed a motion for a continuance which was denied by the trial court in part because the State responded to the motion in a timely manner. (Exh. A, p. 2); See (Attached Copy, Exhibit B). On May 18, 1999 a pretrial conference was held. At the pretrial, Appellant asked the court for a 45-day continuance. However, because Appellant refused to waive his right to a speedy trial, his motion was denied. (Exh. A, p. 3). A jury trial was scheduled for June 17, 1999 with June 15, 1999 being set aside for a hearing on any



motions. (Exh. A, p. 3). On June 15, 1999, the Appellant again moved the trial court to dismiss the charges on the grounds that his right to a speedy trial was violated. (Exh. A, p. 4). The motion was denied and the case proceeded to trial on June 17, 1999. (Exh. A, p. 4). Following a trial by jury, the Appellant was found guilty of simple assault and a sentencing hearing was set for August 26, 1999. (Exh. A, p. 5). The Appellant was sentenced to 180 days jail, suspended, placed on 12 months probation, complete 50 hours community service pay a fine of \$750 with \$375 suspended, and pay restitution in the amount of \$353.57. (Exh. A, p. 6-7).

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should summarily reject Appellant's challenge because the Appellant has failed to cite to the record as required in the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 24. However, if this Court does address Appellant's speedy trial challenge on its merits, it should affirm the trial court's rulings. From the moment the case was filed both the State and the trial court guarded defendant's speedy trial right despite the Appellant's attempts to confound the judicial process.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I. THE COURT SHOULD STRIKE APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE UTAH RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE.

This Court should summarily affirm Appellant's convictions and all pertinent trial court rulings because Appellant's Opening Brief fails to comply

with Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(7). That rule requires that, “[a]ll statements of fact and references to the proceedings below shall be supported by citations to the record.”

Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(7). When the brief fails to cite to the record or omits other aspects required by Utah R. App. Proc. 24 “may be disregarded or stricken, on motion or sua sponte by the court.” Utah R. App. Proc. 24(k). Even a cursory glance at Appellant’s Opening Brief reveals that Appellant has woefully failed to comply with Rule 24. Appellant has filed no appendix, and his brief contains no exhibits. Moreover, the entire brief is devoid of any citations to the record in this case. In reliance upon Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 24, the State therefore moves to strike Appellant’s opening brief and to dismiss his appeal. In the alternative, the State moves for summary disposition. Therefore, it is upon this basis that the State’s motion for summary disposition should be granted.

Both the Utah Supreme Court and the Utah Court of Appeals have addressed the issue of failure to cite to the record in an appellate brief. In State v. Price, 827 P.2d 247 (Utah Ct. App. 1992), a defendant was appealing his conviction on various counts of possession of a controlled substance. The defendant alleged that the search of his vehicle was unlawfully obtained by coercive tactics on the part of the police. The State simply answered the defendant’s allegations by stating that the issue could not be reached because the defendant had not complied with Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 24. The Utah Court of Appeals agreed with the States position and refused to hear any further argument. In denying the defendant’s appeal on the grounds it was insufficient,

the Utah Court of Appeals recalled other instances in which Utah appellate courts have held similarly:

See, e.g., Trees v. Lewis, 738 P.2d 612, 612-13 (Utah 1987) (court dismisses appeal because Appellant “has not supported the facts set forth in his brief with citations to the record” as required by the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure); State v. Garza, 820 P.2d 937, 939 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (court refuses to reach an issue because defendant “failed to include a statement of facts in her brief, as required by Rule 24(a)(7)”); Koulis v. Standard Oil Co. of California, 746 P.2d 1182, 1184 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (“If a party fails to make a concise statement of the facts and citation of the pages in the record where those facts are supported, the court will assume the correctness of the judgment below.”).

Price, 827 P.2d at 249, n. 4. It is apparent that failure to cite to the record is sufficient grounds to dismiss the appeal without reaching its merits. State v. Ortiz, 782 P.2d 959, 962 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (holding “[w]e have consistently held that if counsel on appeal does not provide citations to the record, we need not reach the merits of his or her substantive claims.”); See e.g., Amica Mut. Ins. Co. v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950, 969 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

The Utah Supreme Court also has dealt with failure to cite to the record on an appeal. In State v. Willet, 909 P.2d 218 (Utah 1995), the defendant was appealing from his conviction of capital homicide. One issue was whether the trial court should have quashed the bindover on constitutional grounds. The Utah Supreme Court never reached that issue because the defendant failed to cite to the record. The Court stated, “[t]his court has held that an Appellant’s failure to cite to the record in his brief is grounds for assuming regularity in the proceedings and correctness in the judgment appealed from.” Id. at 222. See also, State v. Olmos,

712 P.2d 287, 287 (Utah 1986). In yet another case, State v. Milligan, 727 P.2d 213 (Utah 1986), the defendant was appealing a conviction in absentia for driving without a license and failure to appear. The defendant was appealing pro se with stand-by counsel. The defendant set forth various arguments. In reply the State requested a summary disposition for failure to cite to the record. The Court recognized that the State's argument was correct but due to the defendant's status as pro se, the Court allowed the appeal to be heard. Id. at 214; See also State v. Sutton, 707 P.2d 681, 683 (Utah 1985) (holding that failure to cite to the record is grounds for upholding the trial court's decision). In the instant case, the defendant is represented by an attorney and should be held to the plain meaning of Utah case law and the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Utah appellate courts have consistently applied Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 24 in holding that failure to cite to the record provides a sufficient reason to refuse to reach the merits of the case. Therefore, the State respectfully requests that Appellant's Opening Brief be stricken and his appeal dismissed.

## POINT II. THE APPELLANT'S RIGHTS TO A SPEEDY TRIAL WERE NOT VIOLATED.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that this Court determines to reach the merits of Appellant's appeal, it should nonetheless affirm his conviction because no such violation occurred. Both the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article I, § 12 of the Utah Constitution give a defendant the right to a speedy trial and the same analysis is applied in each provision. State v. Velasquez, 641

P.2d 115, 116 (Utah 1982). “In reviewing whether a defendant’s right to a speedy trial was violated, we examine four factors: 1) the length of the delay; 2) the reason for the delay; 3) whether the defendant asserted his right to a speedy trial; and 4) whether defendant was prejudiced as a result.” State v. Leyva, 906 P.2d 910, 912 (Utah Ct. App. 1995)(citations omitted). An evaluation of these factors will show that the defendant’s right to a speedy trial was not violated.

#### A. The Length of the Delay.

The Appellant has asserted that the State failed to bring Mr. Russell to trial for over 20 months. (Appellant’s Brief p. 3). The State takes exception to that characterization. The 20 months to which Appellant alludes accounts for the entire amount of time between the date of occurrence of the offense and the trial date before Judge Fratto. However, there was only nine months that elapsed between the date the information was filed and the defendant trial date. For seven of those months the case did not progress because the Appellant did not answer the summons and could not be found on the subsequent warrant that was issued on January 13, 1999. (Exh. A, p. 1-2). The proceedings at the justice court level are not pertinent because the Appellant never asserted his rights to a speedy trial during those proceedings. See State v. Snyder, 932 P.2d 120 (Utah Ct. App. 1997)(determining that the first trial was not included in the amount of the time lapse in a speedy trial determination.). See also State v. Bohn, 248 P.2d 119 (1926)(holding a defendant can not be inactive and then claim a speedy trial violation, the right to a speedy trial is considered waived if not requested).

Therefore, the total amount of time is approximately two months from the moment the Appellant was aware of the charges filed in the Murray District Court to the date of trial. See State v. Ossana, 739 P.2d 628, 632 (Utah 1987)(holding that a four and a half year delay did not deny the Appellant the right to a speedy trial); State v. Leyva, 906 P.2d at 912 (holding a four delay did not deny the Appellant's right to a speedy trial); State v. Snyder, 932 P.2d at 129-30 (holding one year eight month delay did not prejudice the Appellant).

#### B. The Reasons for Delay.

The two months that it took from the Appellant's arraignment to the Appellant's jury trial can hardly be described as a delay. In fact, there was no delay on the part of either the State or the Appellant. As stated in the facts above, the moment the Appellant became aware of the charges in the Murray District Court, only two months elapsed between the arraignment and the trial. Two months is not a violation of the Appellant's speedy trial rights.

#### C. The Assertion of the Right.

The State does not dispute the Appellant's claim that he asserted his right to a speedy trial during the proceedings before the Murray District Court. However, the State also asserts that the Appellants rights to a speedy trial was not asserted at the Justice Court level and as such, that time can not be calculated into the amount of time it took for the Appellant to be placed on trial. In addition, it is important to note that at his pretrial conference on May 18, 1999, Appellant requested a 45-day

continuance, a request which was denied because Appellant asserted his speedy trial right.

#### D. The Prejudice from Delay.

There are three areas where prejudice can occur in a speedy trial right violation. These are: “(i)to prevent oppressive pretrial incarceration; (ii) to minimize anxiety and concern of the accused; and (iii) to limit the possibility that the defense will be impaired.” State v. Maestas, 815 P.2d 1319, 1322 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) cert. denied, 826 P.2d 651 (Utah 1991)(citations omitted). The Appellant claims that the time delay prejudiced the Appellant’s ability to pursue the claim of self-defense. (Appellant’s Brief, pp. 5-6). The factual basis for such a claim is the Appellant’s assertion that there existed a possibility that other witnesses exist who could corroborate the Appellant’s story. This claim fails to account for the Appellant’s opportunity to confront the other person involved in the fight. In fact the jury was able to hear both the Appellant’s testimony and the victim’s testimony concerning the fight. Clearly, the jury did not believe the Appellant’s story and gave more credibility to the victim’s story. Therefore, the Appellant was not prejudiced by the length of the delay.

Finally, the defendant’s claim of prejudice is specious at best given that he himself had requested a continuance at the pretrial conference.

#### CONCLUSION